
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Local Plans Sub (Planning and Transportation) 
Committee 

 
Date: MONDAY, 31 JANUARY 2022 

Time: 1.45 pm 

Venue: COMMITTEE ROOM 1, WEST WING, GUILDHALL  

 
Members: Deputy Alastair Moss (Chair) 

Oliver Sells QC (Deputy Chairman) 
Randall Anderson 
Christopher Hill, PHES rep 
Deputy Jamie Ingham Clark 
 

John Edwards 
Shravan Joshi 
Oliver Lodge 
Graham Packham 
William Upton QC 
 

 
 
Enquiries: Gemma Stokley 

gemma.stokley@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 
 

Accessing the virtual public meeting 
 

Members of the public can observe this virtual public meeting at the below link: 
https://youtu.be/Y8H8TQz05BM 

 
A recording of the public meeting will be available via the above link following the end of 
the public meeting for up to one municipal year. Please note: Online meeting recordings 
do not constitute the formal minutes of the meeting; minutes are written and are available 
on the City of London Corporation’s website. Recordings may be edited, at the discretion 
of the proper officer, to remove any inappropriate material. 

 

 
John Barradell 

Town Clerk and Chief Executive 
 

Public Document Pack

https://youtu.be/Y8H8TQz05BM


2 
 

AGENDA 
 
 
1. APOLOGIES 

 
 

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF 
ITEMS ON THE AGENDA 

 
 

3. MINUTES 
 

 To agree the public minutes of the meeting held on 14 November 2020. 
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 3 - 8) 

 
4. LOCAL PLAN - NEXT STEPS 
 

 Report of the Executive Director, Environment. 
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 9 - 34) 

 
5. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE SUB-

COMMITTEE 
 
 

6. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIR CONSIDERS URGENT 
 
 



LOCAL PLANS SUB (PLANNING AND TRANSPORTATION) COMMITTEE 
Wednesday, 4 November 2020  

 
Minutes of the meeting of the Local Plans Sub (Planning and Transportation) 

Committee held via Microsoft Teams on Wednesday, 4 November 2020 at 1.45 pm 
 

Present 
 
Members: 
Deputy Alastair Moss (Chair) 
Oliver Sells QC (Deputy Chairman) 
Randall Anderson 
Deputy Keith Bottomley 
Christopher Hill 
Deputy Jamie Ingham Clark 
Shravan Joshi 
Graham Packham 
William Upton QC 

 
Officers: 
Gemma Stokley - Town Clerk's Department 

Antoinette Duhaney - Town Clerk’s Department 

Ellen Wentworth - Technology Support Officer 

Paul Beckett - Department of the Built Environment 

Peter Shadbolt - Department of the Built Environment 

Adrian Roche - Department of the Built Environment 

John Harte - Department of the Built Environment 

 
Introductions 
The Town Clerk opened the meeting by introducing herself and stating that the 
Committee was quorate.  
 
A roll call of Members present was undertaken. 
 
The Town Clerk highlighted that the meeting was being recorded as well as live 
streamed and would be made available on the City Corporation’s YouTube 
page for a period of time after the meeting had concluded. With this in mind, it 
was confirmed that participants in the meeting had all individually agreed and 
given their consent to being recorded and that all personal data would be 
processed in accordance with the Data Protection Act 2018. The Town Clerk 
highlighted that, for further information on this, viewers could contact the City 
Corporation using the details provided on the public webpages. 
 

1. APOLOGIES  
There were no apologies.  
 

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN 
RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA  
There were no declarations. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 
3. MINUTES  

The Sub-Committee considered the public minutes of the last meeting held 
virtually on 20 October 2020 and approved them as a correct record.  
 

4. CITY PLAN 2036: REVISIONS TO PRE-SUBMISSION DRAFT PLAN  
The Sub-Committee considered a report of the Director of the Built 
Environment responding to the questions and further clarification sought by 
Members on suggested changes to the City Plan 2036 at their last meeting on 
20 October 2020. A revised schedule of changes was also proposed.  
 
With regard to the timetable for the Plan, Officers reported that, since the last 
meeting, they had had further confirmation from the Government’s Chief 
Planner that, although there is a wider planning reform agenda which will 
impact upon the planning system over the next 12-18 months, her strong 
advice to all local authorities was to continue with their Local Plan preparation 
process in so far as they could.  
 
A Member made reference to the cross-cutting London Recharged Report 
which was touched upon within the paper and questioned whether anything 
more specific would be done with regard to planning and fed into the Local 
Plan. Officers agreed that the London Recharged Report was quite wide 
ranging and was tailored to a range of audiences including the City of London 
Corporation and other bodies. In preparing the report, the consultants had 
consulted widely with key individuals who have an influence on or view upon 
the future of the City. Whilst it was recognised that the report was not a specific 
plan in the sense that a local authority land use plan was, it was noted that it 
did set out some broad aims that it would be desirable for the local authority 
and other stakeholders to bear in mind in order to ‘recharge’ London as a 
vibrant City going forward. It was therefore one element of a growing evidence 
base that the City as a commercial centre would rebound after the current 
pandemic. This presumption was also reflected within the City’s own draft Plan. 
In the meantime, Officers reported that they were now considering taking active 
steps in engaging a retail consultant to provide further commentary on the 
current situation and the likely future prospects. Consultants would also be 
engaged to consider the future of the public realm and transport in the City. As 
the current situation improved, thought would also be given as to whether there 
were any employment or mix of land use implications of COVID-19 to consider. 
It was expected that information around this would emerge in the coming 
months and that this would inform the examination of this Plan in 2021. Officers 
underlined that it was simply not possible at this stage to predict with any 
certainty what the short or long-term effects of the pandemic would be but that 
it was nevertheless important to proceed with the best possible estimates of the 
likely future direction of travel whilst also remaining flexible, through 
discussions at examination, to ensure that the Plan remained relevant once the 
pandemic had passed.  
 
Officers went on to report that they felt that there was generally good synergy 
between the London Recharged Report and the draft Local Plan and that much 
of what was in the Local Plan was supported by this report. It was recognised 

Page 4



that there was a lot in the London Recharged Report that covered non-planning 
issues and so, whilst Officers could provide the Built Environment elements of 
it, much of the implementation of it would be delivered by other Departments 
within the City Corporation and also other parts of London. 
 
The Member thanked Officers for their response and went on to refer to The 
Tulip Inquiry which had opened this week and had already made reference to 
the London Recharged Report. He commented that it should therefore be 
assumed that the report would also be raised at examination and that how this 
fitted in with the Local Plan should therefore be made clear from the outset. 
Officers responded by stating that the London Recharged Report was not a 
plan document in itself but was part of an evidence base which complemented 
the Plan. 
 
Another Member spoke to refer to the 15 minute City concept and highlighted 
that there were many facilities that were very close to the City within 
neighbouring boroughs and that this was another reason why he felt that the 
concept should not be embraced for such a small area. Officers agreed with the 
point made and undertook to refer to neighbouring boroughs and the social and 
community facilities used by City residents within the suggested wording in the 
schedule for the new paragraph which follows 6.2.1 within the draft Plan.  
 
A Member referred to the office Development Pipeline noting that almost 70% 
of the target was likely to have been completed by the end of 2021. He 
therefore questioned what it was that would be being delivered over the 
remaining 15 years of the Plan. Officers reported that work to reach the target 
was currently ahead of schedule but highlighted that the phasing of the works 
had always been of that order in that it was always anticipated that a greater 
proportion of development would be delivered during the first half of the Plan’s 
lifespan than the second half. Officers went on to state that it may be the case 
that, when the Plan is reviewed in 5 years’ time, in line with Government 
guidance, the balance between demand and supply and the appropriate mix of 
uses may have changed and different targets might be required going forward. 
Members were also informed that the baseline used for the draft Plan was 2016 
and that, since this time, there had been a large amount of construction in the 
City with over 500,000 square metres of office space already developed. Before 
this, in 2011-16 there was actually a net loss of approximately 400,000 square 
metres due to the demolition of buildings that led to the replacement scheme 
that the City was now seeing come to fruition. 
 
The Deputy Chairman cautioned against over reliance on long-term forecasting 
of this type as, in his experience, most Plans such as these needed to be able 
to adapt to increasingly fast changing circumstances. Given the fact that the 
country was currently in the centre of an immense social, medical and 
economic crisis, it was difficult to plan with any certainty for the longer-term and 
the real key for the City Corporation was to ensure that it worked holistically 
across all Committees and Departments to ensure that it was quick and flexible 
enough to adapt retail and office space, open space and highways to respond 
to the City’s recovery from the pandemic and emerging requirements in due 
course. Officers went on to state that the target for development in the City was 

Page 5



deliberately broad brush and that this was a sufficiently flexible Plan to enable 
targets to be adjusted in response to changing circumstances.  
 
The Sub-Committee went on to focus on mix of uses. A Member questioned 
whether Officers were satisfied that the emerging Plan was providing the 
market with enough clear direction on this matter. Officers stated that they 
hoped it was the case that developers were clear on what the Plan was trying 
to say on this matter and that there had been a shift between the current Local 
Plan and this emerging Plan to a more favourable approach to encouraging 
housing within or nearby to existing residential areas. Previously, the approach 
had been to provide, but not encourage, housing within these areas. The 
justification for this shift was to provide greater confidence around meeting 
housing targets going forward. Alongside this, Officers also had reasonable 
confidence that they were going to meet office supply targets which would allow 
for greater flexibility for sites nearby to existing residential areas and allow both 
targets to be met. It was felt that the emerging Plan ought to enable 
professional developers with sites in or near existing residential areas to reach 
the conclusion that they should be considering housing as a possible use 
depending on the circumstances of each site. Officers added that, through 
discussions taking place at the pre-application stage on a number of schemes 
across the City, they were now beginning to see developers taking a more 
flexible approach to the sorts of uses they want to see in their buildings. Many 
were also beginning to understand, not least because of the ongoing pandemic, 
that a greater mix of uses gave them greater certainty of income as well as 
flexibility going forward. As a result, it was felt that this approach would become 
more prominent in future years. Officers did, however, caution that the 
residential market in central London was not very buoyant at present. 
 
The Deputy Chairman commented that he was of the view that the City of 
London was particularly vulnerable to the pandemic, more so than outer 
London boroughs which had a greater mix of residential, retail and leisure 
offerings. The emerging Plan should therefore be as flexible as possible in 
terms of changing the mix of uses in the City if the market demands it. 
 
The Chair noted that Local Policy OF2 allowed for the loss of office 
accommodation within and near residential areas where it would not 
compromise the potential for office development in the vicinity and suggested 
that this also needed to be kept in mind. Officers stated that as the City was 
primarily a commercial centre with residential locations, it made it quite different 
to other central London locations in terms of the balance of the mix of uses, and 
recognised that this had worked to the area’s disadvantage in the short-term, 
during the ongoing pandemic. However, the USP of parts of the City being 
almost exclusively a mix of different types of commercial and supporting uses 
was not generally available in other locations. Officers hypothesised that a 
possible consequence of the pandemic was that, overall, the total demand for 
office floorspace across London might decrease with an increase in remote 
working and that this might lead to a decrease in office space in other parts of 
London with some looking to relocate to the City because of this USP and its 
commercial mix. Officers recognised that there was a need for balance 

Page 6



between addressing short-term consequences and addressing long-term 
objectives.  
 
The Deputy Chairman went on to state that one of the few certainties at present 
was that those living and working in large cities would increasingly desire and 
demand cleaner air and quieter, safer, cleaner streets in general as well as a 
mix of retail and cultural offerings going forward. In this respect, those cities 
that tended to thrive were those who invested and opened up and did not 
retreat or retract. The Deputy Chair therefore underlined once more the 
importance of a holistic approach across the City Corporation to help create a 
plan that would welcome people back to the City in the longer-term. 
 
Another Member spoke again on the London Recharged Report and noted that 
this made reference to hyper-flexible working and hyper-flexible offices. He 
questioned whether this same language ought to now be used within the 
emerging plan to keep the two documents clearly aligned. Officers clarified that 
it was their intention to look again at the detailed wording of the Plan in areas 
where there was already good alignment with the London Recharged Report 
and to nuance this to more clearly align the language used within the two 
documents. This work would be undertaken ahead of submitting the revised 
City Plan to the Planning and Transportation Committee later this month. 
Officers also took the point made by Members around flexibility and, in 
particular, how office floor space was likely to be used differently in the future, 
recognising that there should be not constraints within the Plan around this. 
Another Member requested that ‘consultant speak’ phrases such as ‘hyper-
flexible workspace’ were not used within the Plan and commented that a move 
to more flexible working was not a new phenomenon with many City firms 
having introduced this a long time ago. The current pandemic had simply 
served to accelerate this trend. The Member commented that one possible 
outcome of this was that offices would be able to take on more staff without 
acquiring more office space. The Chair commented that reference to hyper-
flexible workspace was made within the London Recharged Report and that the 
general consensus of the Sub-Committee was that this should therefore be 
reflected within the emerging Plan to tie the two together where possible.  
 
Officers thanked Members for their input and anticipated that a likely debate on 
the Plan at the Grand Committee would be around the fact that there was 
currently too much uncertainty to proceed with the suggested timetable 
however, as discussed by this Sub-Committee, the City Corporation had an 
obligation to show some leadership and to continue to progress the Plan as 
highlighted by the Government’s own Chief Planner.  
 
Officers also highlighted that Westminster City Council were currently going 
through a Local Plan Examination and Inspectors had subsequently written to 
them with ‘main modifications to the Plan’. Two of the points raised were also 
relevant to the City’s draft Plan – the first of these was around seeking 
affordable housing contributions from commercial development which the 
Inspectors had suggested was not in line with national policy and should be 
removed. Whilst this was a new policy for Westminster, the City had taken this 
approach for many years and it was not proposed that this be changed. 

Page 7



Members were, however, asked to note that this point may be made during 
consultation. The second comment made by Inspectors had been around the 
Use Classes Order where Westminster CC had suggested that they will use 
planning conditions to manage the change of use within classes whilst 
Inspectors considered that this was not in line with national policy. The City’s 
draft Plan suggested that planning conditions might be used for this purpose 
where necessary and it was proposed that this approach continue to be taken 
forward for consultation.  The Sub-Committee noted these points and the Chair 
underlined that, whilst Westminster was a neighbouring borough and that there 
were some similarities with the City, the two were different entities and it was 
felt that what was being presented here was a coherent plan for the City. 
Officers added that the whole purpose of an examination was to consider the 
extent to which local authorities could locally justify any exceptions to a national 
approach and make their case for these adequately on a range of grounds. 
 
RESOLVED – That, Members agree the suggested approach outlined in the 
report and the schedule of proposed changes, for onward consideration by the 
Planning and Transportation Committee. 
 

5. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE SUB-
COMMITTEE  
There were no questions.  
 

6. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIR CONSIDERS URGENT  
There were no additional, urgent items of business for consideration.  
 
 

The meeting ended at 2.30 pm 
 
 
 

 

Chairman 
 
 
 
Contact Officer: Gemma Stokley  
tel. no.: 020 7332 3414 
gemma.stokley@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

Page 8



 

Committee(s) Dated: 

Local Plans Sub (Planning and Transportation) 
Committee 

31/01/2022 
 

Subject: 
City Plan: Next steps   

Public 
 

Which outcomes in the City Corporation’s Corporate 
Plan does this proposal aim to impact directly?  

1,2,4,7,9,11,12 

Does this proposal require extra revenue and/or 
capital spending? 

Not in 21/22 or 22/23 

If so, how much?  

What is the source of Funding?  

Has this Funding Source been agreed with the 
Chamberlain’s Department? 

 

Report of:  
Juliemma McLoughlin, Executive Director Environment 

For Decision 

Report author:  
Adrian Roche, Environment Department 

 
Summary 

 
The draft Local Plan, titled City Plan 2036, was published for Regulation 19 pre-
submission consultation between 19 March and 10 May 2021. A report summarising 
the outcome of the consultation exercise was considered by the Grand Committee in 
December 2021. That report drew attention to a general conformity objection from 
the Mayor of London in relation to the draft tall buildings policy, and highlighted a 
range of other factors, including the ongoing impacts of the pandemic and the priority 
need to further embed climate action into the City Plan, which have led to the need 
for material changes to the draft Plan to ensure it will be found sound by a Planning 
Inspector. The Grand Committee agreed a new timetable to enable a revised version 
of the City Plan to be prepared and published for consultation, together with a 
change to the City Plan’s end date to 2040 to align with the Climate Action Strategy. 
 
This report provides more detail about the main areas of technical work needed to 
refresh the evidence base, outlining the broad scope and timing of such work for 
agreement by the Sub-Committee. The report also outlines the engagement that is 
proposed to be undertaken with stakeholders to inform revisions to the draft Plan. 
Officers will report back to the Sub-Committee before the summer recess to outline 
key findings from the evidence gathering and stakeholder engagement exercises, 
together with initial thoughts on potential policy changes. 
 

Recommendation(s) 
 
Members are asked to: 

 

• Note the proposed timetable set out in Appendix A, which was agreed by the 
Planning and Transportation Committee in December 2021; and 
  

• Agree the proposed approach to further evidence gathering set out in 
Appendix B. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



Main Report 
 

Background 
 
1. The City Corporation is preparing a new local plan to replace the current City of 

London Local Plan, which was adopted in 2015 and sets out development 
requirements up to 2026. A Proposed Submission draft of the new local plan, 
covering the period to 2036 and titled City Plan 2036, was published for 
‘Regulation 19’ consultation on 19 March 2021. Consultation ended on 10 May 
2021 and a total of 1,327 formal representations were received from 171 
respondents. 

 
2. A report was considered by the Grand Committee at its meeting on 14 

December 2021, which contained a summary of the key issues raised during the 
pre-submission consultation. Full copies of the original representations, with 
personal details other than names redacted, have been published on the City 
Corporation’s website at www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/cityplan2036. 

 
3. The report to the Grand Committee in December outlined certain policy areas 

including tall buildings, climate change, offices, retail and housing where 
consultation feedback and/or other factors indicate that material changes will be 
needed to ensure that the City Plan will satisfy the relevant soundness tests at 
Examination and to provide a robust policy framework to guide future 
development.  

 
4. The report drew attention to representations made by the Mayor of London, 

which identified some differences in the policy approach to tall buildings in the 
draft City Plan and the adopted London Plan 2021 that had led him to conclude 
that the draft City Plan is not in general conformity with the London Plan. Where 
a local plan is judged to not be in general conformity with the London Plan, it is 
highly unlikely that a Planning Inspector would consider that plan to be sound. 
Attention was also drawn to the City’s deteriorating housing land supply position, 
the age of the evidence base and the fact that the Plan period would now be less 
than 15 years as posing further risks to the soundness of the Plan. 

 
5. Another key factor outlined in the report to the Grand Committee was the 

ongoing impact of the pandemic. When officers had an advisory visit from a 
Planning Inspector in summer 2020, he indicated that the implications of the 
pandemic were so uncertain that it would be acceptable to proceed with a pre-
Covid Plan. However, 18 months on, the length of the pandemic and its impact 
on society and the economy mean that it is arguably no longer tenable to 
proceed with a Plan that was predominantly drafted before the pandemic. 

 
6. In light of all the above factors, the Grand Committee agreed to revise the draft 

City Plan to ensure that it will be found sound by a Planning Inspector and that it 
is fit for a post-Covid, climate resilient future, and aligns with City Corporation 
Covid recovery strategies. The Grand Committee also agreed to change the 
Plan period to 2040 to align with the headline net zero target in the City 
Corporation’s Climate Action Strategy. 

 

Page 10

http://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/cityplan2036


Timetable 
 

7. The revised timetable agreed by the Grand Committee is shown in gantt chart 
and tabular form in Appendix A. It focuses on quickly updating the evidence base 
in the first half of 2022, together with undertaking informal engagement with 
stakeholders representing a range of interests. The scope of this work is set out 
in more detail below. Progress will be reported to the Sub-Committee before the 
summer recess, along with officers’ initial thoughts on potential policy changes. 
In light of the Member steer, officers will draft a revised Proposed Submission 
Draft City Plan over the summer for formal committee approval during the 
autumn. At this stage of the plan preparation process, approval is needed from 
the Planning & Transportation Committee, Policy & Resources Committee and 
the Court of Common Council. Consultation on the revised City Plan would take 
place between December 2022 and February 2023, with a target date of 31 
March 2023 for submission of the Plan to the Secretary of State for examination 
by an independent Planning Inspector. This should enable the City Plan to be 
adopted, or be very close to adoption, by the Government’s target date of 
December 2023 for all local planning authorities. 
 

Evidence Base 
 

8. The current draft City Plan is informed by a range of evidence published by the 
City Corporation and by other organisations, including the Mayor of London in 
support of the London Plan. In some cases, additional studies have been 
undertaken to provide specific evidence to support and justify the proposed 
policies. However, much of the existing evidence base pre-dates the pandemic 
and needs to be reviewed and confirmed or updated in light of the pandemic and 
other factors that may have changed since the original studies were undertaken. 
The evidence base also needs to be rolled forward to 2040 to correspond with 
the revised Plan period. 
 

9. It is not necessary, nor feasible within available resources, to produce revised 

versions of all the evidence studies so far undertaken for the City Plan. The 

review of the evidence base will identify which studies will need to be updated or 

amended and which studies can continue to be relied upon. Priority will be given 

to updating studies relating to topics that have been particularly affected by the 

pandemic and/or were subject to challenge during the consultation on the 

Proposed Submission Draft City Plan. In some cases, new work may also be 

required, for instance to address the Mayor’s objection in relation to the tall 

buildings policy. 

 
10. As much as possible of this work will be undertaken by in-house staff but 

external consultants will need to be appointed where specialist expertise is 

required outside of the experience of in-house staff. A balance needs to be 

struck in this regard between ensuring that the evidence underpinning the City 

Plan is as robust and up-to-date as possible, while remaining within the budget 

and staff resources available and avoiding undue further delay to the preparation 

of the City Plan. 

 

Page 11



11. Appendix B of this report contains a series of short papers relating to the 
following key policy topics within the City Plan: 

 

• Climate change 

• Tall buildings 

• Offices  

• Housing 

• Culture and visitors 

• Retail 

• Sports and leisure 
 

12. The papers at Appendix B identify the existing evidence base and set out a 
proposed approach towards updating and/or supplementing that evidence base 
with additional research. Members are asked to indicate if they are happy for 
officers to proceed on the basis indicated or if they wish to suggest additional or 
alternative priorities or to comment on the nature of the evidence to be collected.  

 
‘Call for sites’ consultation 
 
13. The report to the Grand Committee in December explained why it would now be 

prudent to undertake a ‘call for sites’ consultation asking stakeholders to submit 
any sites they would wish to be considered for allocation in the City Plan for 
future residential-led development. In essence, given the deteriorating housing 
land supply position and the current lack of a 5-year housing land supply as 
required by national policy, it is important to be able to demonstrate to a 
Planning Inspector that the City Corporation has actively looked for potentially 
suitable land for housing.   
 

14. It is proposed to undertake the consultation in April and May and to report back 

to this Sub-Committee on the outcome before the summer recess. The 

consultation would cover a full range of potential residential development, 

including student accommodation and newer housing models such as Build to 

Rent and Co-Living that are potentially more complementary to the City’s 

business and cultural objectives than traditional forms of housing. It would also 

invite suggestions for mixed-use sites within which housing would be one of the 

main proposed uses.   

 
15. While it would be open to anyone to respond to this consultation with 

suggestions for suitable sites, the primary purpose of such a consultation is to 

understand the intentions of landowners and developers since site allocations in 

local plans are required to be deliverable. It is important to highlight that 

undertaking a call for sites consultation does not mean that sites submitted 

through this process would ultimately be considered acceptable for residential 

development, but it would enable the relative merits of different sites to be 

evaluated. Any sites submitted will be brought to this Sub-Committee for detailed 

consideration.  

 
 

Page 12



16. Even if no sites were to be submitted, that would in itself provide useful 

information about the current state of the residential land market in the City and 

would strengthen the City Corporation’s ability to argue at examination for a 

pragmatic interpretation of national policy in the Square Mile. 

 
Stakeholder engagement 

 
17. Over the next few months, it is also proposed to undertake informal engagement 

with stakeholders representing a range of interests, for instance to follow up on 

points raised in their consultation responses where appropriate, and to 

understand their views on the City’s post-Covid recovery. Meetings will be 

arranged with the following organisations to help inform revisions to the City 

Plan: 

• The GLA 

• Neighbouring boroughs 

• Statutory national bodies under the ‘Duty to Cooperate’ such as Historic 

England and the Environment Agency 

• The CPA and other business groups 

• Residents’ associations and amenity groups 

• Utility companies/infrastructure providers 

 

18. Other organisations and individuals that responded to last year’s City Plan 

consultation will be contacted to offer the opportunity for discussions with officers 

if they wish to do so. Key messages from this exercise will be reported back to 

this Sub-Committee before the summer recess. 

 
Corporate & Strategic Implications 

 
19. The preparation of the City Plan is informed by the Corporate Plan (2018-23) 

and the new Plan, when adopted, will help to implement a number of Corporate 
Plan objectives. It will support the delivery of key Corporate priorities, along with 
proposals to ensure a sufficient supply of business space and complementary 
uses to meet future needs. Preparation of the revised Proposed Submission 
Draft will be undertaken alongside the review of the Transport Strategy and the 
revised end date of the City Plan (2040) will align with the key net zero target in 
the Climate Action Strategy. 
 

Financial implications 
 

20. As set out in the December report to the Grand Committee, approximately 
£220,000 has been spent to date on commissioning studies to support the City 
Plan over a 5-year period. It is estimated that at least £100,000 will be needed to 
update key parts of the evidence base plus potentially to prepare some 
additional evidence on post-Covid trends, along with additional 3D modelling 
work on the location of tall buildings. Currently there is provision for £120,000 in 
the Planning Policy Local Risk budget, which could be used to update evidence 
documents. However, additional funding will need to be found in the 2023/24 
budget to cover the City Plan examination costs.  

Page 13



 
Staff Resource implications 

 
21. Preparation of the revised pre-submission Regulation 19 City Plan will be carried 

out in-house by the Development Plans Team, working alongside and supported 
by Development and Design colleagues in the Planning Service and by other 
services as appropriate. In some cases, external consultants will be 
commissioned to undertake specific technical studies, with in-house staff 
managing the consultants’ work. The staff resourcing of the Development Plans 
Team is being considered through the Target Operating Model process.  
 

Legal implications 
 

22. There are no specific legal requirements, other than the ongoing requirement to 
ensure that all relevant statutory processes are complied with during production 
of the City Plan. 
 

Equalities implications 
 

23. Preparation of the City Plan has been informed by an Integrated Impact 
Assessment which incorporates an Equalities Assessment. Any material 
changes to the Plan will be subject to further Equalities Assessment. 
 

Risk implications 
 
24. The December 2021 report to the Grand Committee identified the risks 

associating with preparing a revised pre-submission Regulation 19 City Plan as 
compared to submitting the current version for examination. The Grand 
Committee agreed to revise the City Plan and officers will continue to monitor 
and report back on any changes to the risk assessment as the project 
progresses.   

 
Climate implications 

 
25. The City Plan is one of the key mechanisms for achieving those targets in the 

Climate Action Strategy which relate to the Square Mile rather than the City 
Corporation’s own operations, in particular the net zero target for the Square 
Mile by 2040. It is intended that the revised City Plan will further strengthen 
alignment with the Climate Action Strategy. 
  

Security implications 
 

26. There are no direct security implications. The draft City Plan includes policies on 
safety and security which attracted relatively few comments at the Regulation 19 
consultation. 

 
Conclusion 

 
27. This report follows on from a report to the Grand Committee in December 2021, 

which identified a number of factors that have led to the need for material 

Page 14



changes to the draft City Plan. The Grand Committee agreed a new timetable to 
enable a revised version of the City Plan to be prepared and published for 
consultation, together with a change to the City Plan’s end date to 2040 to align 
with the headline net zero target in the Climate Action Strategy. 
 

28. This report provides more detail about the main areas of technical work needed 
to refresh the evidence base underpinning the City Plan, outlining the broad 
scope and timing of such work for agreement by the Sub-Committee. The report 
also outlines a proposed ‘call for sites’ consultation in relation to potential 
residential-led development and the informal engagement that is proposed to be 
undertaken with stakeholders to inform revisions to the draft Plan. Officers will 
report back to the Sub-Committee before the summer recess to outline key 
findings from these workstreams, together with initial thoughts on potential policy 
changes. 

 
Appendices 
 

• Appendix A: City Plan 2040 timetable 

• Appendix B: Evidence base requirements in relation to key policy topics  
 
Report author 
 
Adrian Roche 
Development Plans Team Leader 
 
T: 020 7332 1846 
E: adrian.roche@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

Page 15

mailto:adrian.roche@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16



December 2021 -

March 2023 Dec

0
3

/0
1

/2
2

1
0

/0
1

/2
2

1
7

/0
1

/2
2

2
4

/0
1

/2
2

3
1

/0
1

/2
2

0
7

/0
2

/2
2

1
4

/0
2

/2
2

2
1

/0
2

/2
2

2
8

/0
2

/2
2

0
7

/0
3

/2
2

1
4

/0
3

/2
2

2
1

/0
3

/2
2

2
8

/0
3

/2
2

0
4

/0
4

/2
2

1
1

/0
4

/2
2

1
8

/0
4

/2
2

2
5

/0
2

/2
2

0
2

/0
5

/2
2

0
9

/0
5

/2
2

1
6

/0
5

/2
2

2
3

/0
5

/2
2

3
0

/0
5

/2
2

0
6

/0
6

/2
2

1
3

/0
6

/2
2

2
0

/0
6

/2
2

2
7

/0
6

/2
2

0
4

/0
7

/2
2

1
1

/0
7

/2
2

1
8

/0
7

/2
2

2
5

/0
7

/2
2

0
1

/0
8

/2
2

0
8

/0
8

/2
2

1
5

/0
8

/2
2

2
9

/0
8

/2
2

0
5

/0
9

/2
2

1
2

/0
9

/2
2

1
9

/0
9

/2
2

2
6

/0
9

/2
2

0
3

/1
0

/2
2

1
0

/1
0

/2
2

1
7

/1
0

/2
2

2
4

/1
0

/2
2

3
1

/1
0

/2
2

0
7

/1
1

/2
2

1
4

/1
1

/2
2

2
1

/1
1

/2
2

2
8

/1
1

/2
2

0
5

/1
2

/2
2

1
2

/1
2

/2
2

1
9

/1
2

/2
2

2
6

/1
2

/2
2

0
2

/0
1

/2
3

0
9

/0
1

/2
3

1
6

/0
1

/2
3

2
3

/0
1

/2
3

3
0

/0
1

/2
3

0
6

/0
2

/2
3

1
3

/0
2

/2
3

2
0

/0
2

/2
3

2
7

/0
2

/2
3

0
6

/0
3

/2
3

1
3

/0
3

/2
3

2
0

/0
3

/2
3

2
7

/0
3

/2
3

Planning & Transportation 

Committee approval

M

Prepare and issue briefs

Evaluate tenders and 

appoint consultants

In-house updating of 

evidence base

Informal stakeholder 

engagement

Consultants working on 

evidence studies

‘Call for sites’ consultation 

Finalise and publish 

studies

Report(s) to Local Plans 

Sub-

Committee (dates tbc)

Drafting Proposed 

Submission Draft City Plan 

2040

Integrated Impact 

Assessment of material 

policy changes

Committee approval of 

Proposed Submission Draft 

City Plan 2040

P&T P&R Court

Preparation of updated 

supporting documents

Publication of Proposed 

Submission Draft City Plan 

2040 for Reg 19 

consultation

M

Analyse / respond to 

representations and 

prepare schedule of 

further changes 

Prepare supporting 

documentation for 

submission

Appoint Programme 

Officer to administer the 

Examination

Submission of Draft City 

Plan 2040 to Secretary of 

State 
M

M = Milestone

December January February MarchJune July August September October NovemberMay

Appendix A: Timetable up to submission of City Plan 2040

January February March April

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 18



Appendix A: City Plan 2040 timetable 

The timetable agreed by the Grand Committee in December 2021 is outlined below: 

City Plan 2040 timetable 

Month/Year Summary of key tasks and milestones 

January 
2022 

- Report to Local Plans Sub-Committee (date tbc) to agree outline 
project plan and to provide a steer on key issues 

- Prepare and issue briefs for updated evidence base studies by 
external consultants 

February - 
June 2022 

- Evaluate tenders and appoint consultants to undertake evidence 
studies (by end of February) 

- In-house updating of evidence base and additional work as 
required, including assessment of potential tall building locations 

- Informal engagement with a range of stakeholders including the 
Mayor and neighbouring boroughs under the ‘Duty to Cooperate’ 

- ‘Call for sites’ consultation in relation to potential residential 
development (April/May) 

July 2022 - Finalise and publish updated/additional evidence base studies 
- Report(s) to Local Plans Sub-Committee (dates tbc) on the 

updated evidence, engagement with stakeholders, outcome of 
the ‘call for sites’ consultation and potential policy changes 

July – 
September 
2022 

- Drafting of revised Proposed Submission Draft City Plan 
- Integrated Impact Assessment of material policy changes 
 

September - 
December 
2022 

- Committee approval of revised pre-submission City Plan (based 
on current committee dates which may be subject to change): 

• Local Plans Sub-Committee (September – date tbc) 

• Planning & Transportation Committee (11 October 2022)  

• Policy & Resources Committee (17 November 2022) 

• Court of Common Council (8 December 2022) 
- Preparation of a range of updated supporting documents 

including topic papers and Statements of Common Ground with 
neighbouring boroughs/other key partners 

December 
2022 – 
February 
2023 

- Publication of revised Proposed Submission Draft City Plan for 
Regulation 19 consultation, starting immediately after Court and 
running for 8 weeks due to Christmas break (Target dates: 
Monday 12 December – Monday 6 February) 

February – 
March 2023 

- Analyse and respond to representations received, prepare 
schedule of further changes and documentation for submission 

- Appoint Programme Officer to administer the examination 
- Submission to Secretary of State (Target date: Friday 31 March)  

April 2023 - Appointment of Planning Inspector to conduct the examination. 
The timing of the subsequent milestones below is indicative 

Autumn 
2023 

- Examination hearing sessions 

Late 2023 - Receipt of Inspectors’ report 

Early 2024 - Adoption of City Plan 
 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 20



Appendix B: Evidence base requirements in relation to key policy topics  
 

Sustainable Development and Climate Change 

1. The City Corporation has adopted an ambitious Climate Action Strategy with targets 

for net zero by 2040 in the Square Mile and climate resilience in our buildings, 

public spaces and infrastructure. These commitments sit alongside the NPPF’s 

presumption in favour of sustainable development and the London Plan’s 

sustainable infrastructure requirements in driving down carbon emissions and 

minimising resource use in the Square Mile. 

 

2. The policy direction for Shaping Outstanding Environments (design, climate 

resilience & flood risk and waste & circular economy) was informed by the following 

evidence base: 

GHG Baseline methodology and results for the Square Mile - June 2020 - Arup  

GHG Baseline Scope 1 & 2 – May 2020 - Arup  

City of London Adaptive Pathways Study - July 2020 – Buro Happold  

Strategic Flood Risk Assessment - 2017 - WSP (to be updated in 2022) 

Waste Arisings and Waste Capacity Study Review - 2016 – Anthesis 

Local Plan Waste Monitoring Report - 2019/20 – City Corporation  

3. The evidence base for this workstream is relatively up-to-date and is less sensitive 

to the impacts of the pandemic than some of the other key topic areas. 

 

4. The City’s draft City Plan 2036 policies on sustainable design, climate change, flood 

risk and waste & circular economy are underpinned by the London Plan’s 

sustainable infrastructure and climate change policies and net zero targets. These 

policies remain valid but during last year’s consultation several representations 

were received advocating a greater emphasis on whole life carbon and a 

presumption in favour of retention of existing buildings. To this end we will need to 

consider: 

 

• Whether to include a requirement for whole life carbon (WLC) assessments 

for all major development including WLC options appraisal to demonstrate 

that the development represents the lowest WLC emissions over its lifespan. 

 

• Whether to include an additional policy promoting a presumption in favour of 

retention of existing buildings. This would complement the existing Waste 

and Circular economy policy requiring much greater attention to the need to 

reuse existing buildings rather than demolishing and rebuilding. 

Page 21



Tall Buildings 
 
5. The draft City Plan defines tall buildings as those which are over 75m AOD in height 

with the City Cluster identified as the most suitable area for development of tall 
buildings within the City. The existing Local Plan and the draft City Plan indicate that 
all of the City is sensitive to tall building development and also identify areas which 
are inappropriate for tall buildings – these inappropriate areas comprise those parts 
of the City impacted by strategic viewing corridors (the London View Management 
Framework), local views protection (St Paul’s Heights and Monument Views), listed 
buildings and conservation areas. This is a long-standing policy approach in the City 
which had previously been agreed by Planning Inspectors, the Mayor and Historic 
England as an appropriate basis for planning for new tall building development. 

 
6. The draft Strategic Policy S12 on tall buildings was informed by the following 

evidence: 

Tall Buildings in the City of London, City Corporation Monitoring Report, 2020 

Monument Views Study, City Corporation, 2020 

St Paul’s Heights Study, City Corporation, 2015 

Protected Views Supplementary Planning Document, City Corporation, 2012 

GIS mapping/City Maps  

3D modelling 

7. Objections were raised to the draft City Plan tall buildings policies by a number of 
consultees, including the Mayor of London, Historic England, Historic Royal Palaces 
and the Surveyor to the Fabric of St Paul’s. 

 
8. The Mayor has indicated that the draft City Plan’s approach to tall buildings is not in 

conformity with the plan-led policy approach to tall buildings in the adopted 2021 
London Plan. The City Plan is required by the NPPF to be in general conformity with 
the London Plan and the conformity objection is effectively a ‘show-stopper’ in that a 
Planning Inspector would require modifications to be made to the Plan to bring it 
into line with the London Plan. 

 
9. The Mayor requires the City Plan to identify those areas of the City where new tall 

building development would be considered appropriate and, within those areas, to 
provide guidance on appropriate building heights. The Mayor expects this 
information to be set out graphically within the City Plan. 

 
10. In order to align the Draft City Plan with the London Plan 2021, it is considered that 

further technical work will be required. Existing tall building mapping will need to be 
updated to include all schemes which are recently completed or in the development 
pipeline; which have a resolution to be approved by the P&T Committee in the near 
future; or which are subject to pre-application discussions. 

Page 22



 
11. 3D modelling will be used to test areas which are considered appropriate for tall 

buildings within the City and additional work will be undertaken to consider the 
potential development impact of tall buildings at the strategic level as well as at the 
local contextual level, giving consideration to heritage and townscape features.  

 
12. The revised mapping/modelling will address the following: 
 

• Define what is considered a tall building within the City context. 
 

• Identify appropriate locations for tall buildings within the City (including the 
City Cluster). 

 

• Determine acceptable building height range within the City Cluster and other 
areas that are considered appropriate for development of tall buildings. 

 

• Use contour mapping to illustrate appropriate tall building areas and building 
heights.  

 

• Evaluate potential development impacts of new tall buildings  
 

13. Technical work in terms of characterisation studies will be undertaken to strengthen 
the tall buildings evidence base, inform the policy approach taken to development of 
tall buildings within the City and provide the basis for more detailed Design Guide 
work required under the most recent version of the NPPF.  

 
14. Preparation of the revised data and mapping will be carried out within the 

Environment Department, with possible external support on 3D modelling, if 
required. Liaison will be required with officers at the GLA to ensure that the updated 
evidence meets the requirements of the London Plan 2021.  

  

Page 23



Offices and Employment 

15. The City Corporation adopted an ambitious target in the draft City Plan 2036 to 

deliver 2,000,000 sqm of office floorspace by 2036 which complements the London 

Plan aim to promote economic and employment growth in the Central Activities 

Zone (CAZ).  

 

16. The policy direction for the office policies in the draft City Plan was informed by the 

following evidence base:  

London Labour Market Projections August 2017  

City of London office floorspace target October 2018  

London Office Policy Review June 2017  

Local Plan monitoring reports September 2019  

COL Innovation and Growth publications  

Employment trends in the City of London 2019 Business Register 

employment survey (BRES) 

17. Whilst the economic policies within the City Plan 2036 remain valid, during last 

year’s consultation several representations queried the extent of the aspirations to 

grow office floorspace in the light of Covid 19. There is a need to determine how the 

long-term economic and social impacts of the pandemic, alongside other economic, 

social and environmental trends, might alter the City’s office market, projected 

levels of employment growth and patterns of work and to examine scenarios in 

relation to office demand and a hybrid way/flexible way of working.  

 

18. This analysis will inform planning policy on: 

• The overall level of new office floorspace required in the City. 
 

• The type of office space required, including the need for flexible, adaptable 
and affordable workspaces and potential space for creative industries. 

 

• The location of new office workspaces. 
 

• The need for complementary facilities to support office employment in the 
City. 

 

• The potential to reallocate older office space to alternative commercial and 
social uses, including housing. 

 

19. To this end we will need to consider:  

Page 24



• New employment data. It is understood that the GLA are to produce new 
employment projections in early 2022. These projections would replace the 
existing employment projections which are dated from 2017. New 
employment projections will be used as the basis for any revised office 
floorspace projections in the Local Plan. 

 

• New research and publications from CPAT and Innovation & Growth teams 
and engagement with the City Property Association to compile industry-
informed assessments on hybrid working patterns and post lockdown trends 
as workers return to offices in 2022. This would enable an updated 
assessment of the density of office occupation and complementary facilities 
required to attract and accommodate City office workers.  

 

• Whether to revise requirements for marketing and viability evidence for loss 
of office floorspace. The need for healthy buildings and office environments, 
the transition to net zero office buildings and the ‘flight to quality’ in terms of 
increasing demand for new Grade A office space, is likely to mean an 
increasing supply of secondary, lower grade office stock. The revised City 
Plan will need to consider whether this stock can continue to contribute 
towards the City’s office provision, or whether some should be utilised on a 
permanent or temporary basis for alternative uses. Whether or if any loss of 
offices would be harmful to the business city or represent an opportunity for 
diversity of use to increase City resilience will need to be considered.  

 

  

Page 25



Housing 

20. The City Corporation encourages additional housing to be developed in line with 

targets set by the Mayor through the London Plan and informed by a London-wide 

Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA). The achievement of 

these targets is based on the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) which 

requires local planning authorities (LPAs) to maintain a 5-year supply of specific 

deliverable housing sites to demonstrate that sufficient housing will come forward to 

meet projected need. LPAs are also required to identify a supply of developable 

sites for years 6-10 and, where possible, for years 11-15 of the Plan. 

  

21. The NPPF and National Planning Practice Guidance define what is meant by 

‘deliverable’ and ‘developable’ and which need to be reflected in Local Plan housing 

targets: 

• Deliverable – sites with full planning permission or outline permission on 

major sites 

• Developable – sites where there is a reasonable prospect of housing 

development 

 

22. Windfall sites, those not previously allocated in a local plan, can be included as part 

of anticipated supply where there is compelling evidence that they will provide a 

realistic source of housing, either based on demonstrable evidence of past rates, or 

identified through the SHLAA. 

 

23. The City of London is a global financial, business and professional services centre, 

where there has been a long-standing local policy priority for new office 

development. The London Plan 2021, Policy SD5, indicates that residential 

development is not appropriate in defined parts of the City of London and that 

elsewhere in the City, offices and other CAZ strategic functions should be given 

greater weight relative to new housing development. This approach is reflected in 

the relatively low annual housing target for the City of 146 dwellings.  

 

24. The focus on commercial office development and limited need to deliver new 

housing has meant that to date, the City Corporation has not allocated housing 

sites, but rather has relied on windfall sites coming forward. However, it has 

become increasingly apparent that due to a diminishing supply of windfall sites, the 

Corporation may not be able to maintain the 5-year supply of housing sites as 

required by the NPFF in the future. On 31 March 2021, it is estimated that the City 

had a housing land supply of 4.5 years. Re-calculation of the supply as at 30 

September 2021, taking account of housing completions early in the 2021/22 year, 

suggests that future land supply had fallen to approximately 3.7 years. 

Page 26



25. To ensure that the City Plan can meet NPPF requirements and demonstrate a 

minimum 5-year housing land supply, additional deliverable housing sites will need 

to be identified. Government guidance encourages LPAs to work with residents and 

stakeholders to identify suitable sites for inclusion in the Local Plan. A ‘Call for Sites’ 

consultation by the Corporation is therefore required. In the event that no suitable 

sites are identified, the City Corporation would be required by the NPPF and 

national Planning Practice Guidance to consult with neighbouring boroughs on the 

potential for those boroughs to meet some of the City’s housing need. 

 

26. The need for different types of housing in the City (including affordable units) is 

assessed through Strategic Housing Market Assessments (SHMA’s). National, 

London Plan and current Local Plan policy requires new affordable housing to be 

provided on-site. However, the constrained City land market, the competing 

demands for commercial development, the lack of large housing sites and the high 

cost of land means that it is often difficult to achieve an element of affordable 

housing on sites being developed for housing. 

 

27. Local Plan policy allows applicants as an exception to meet affordable housing 

requirements through an off-site commuted sum payment, which can then be used 

to provide housing on sites outside the City. The City Corporation owns and 

manages housing estates in a number of London Boroughs and has an active new 

build development programme to meet the needs of people on the City’s Housing 

Waiting List. Using a commuted sum to deliver on City sites means that a greater 

number of housing units can be provided than may otherwise be possible within the 

City, but it does not help to achieve mixed and balanced communities within the 

Square Mile. Members have indicated a wish to further discuss affordable housing 

policy and delivery in the context of the preparation of the revised City Plan and in 

conjunction with the Housing team within Children’s and Community Services. A 

dedicated session will be arranged in the spring/early summer to which Members of 

the Grand Committee will be invited. 

 

28. The current policy direction for housing (housing targets, location, affordable 

element and amenity) is informed by the following evidence base: 

City of London Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) Final Report 

2016 & Addendum Report 2016 – GL Hearn 

London Plan SHLAA 2017 – Mayor of London 

London Plan SHMA 2017 – Mayor of London 

City of London Housing Strategy 2019-2023 – City Corporation 

City of London Planning Obligations SPD 2020 – City Corporation   

Housing Delivery Test Action Plan 2020 – City Corporation 

Page 27



City Plan 2036 Viability Assessment 2020 & Update Commentary February 

2021- BNP Paribas 

29. The draft City Plan 2036 policies on housing comply with London Plan and NPFF 

guidance. However, the assessment of housing need and available sites is now 

almost five years old and, as set out above, it is likely that the City could no longer 

demonstrate the required 5-year supply of deliverable housing sites. The SHLAA 

and SHMA evidence documents are unlikely to be acceptable as robust evidence at 

an Examination into the Plan.  

                                          

30. To this end, to inform the revisions to the City Plan, we will need to: 

• Undertake a ‘Call for Sites’ consultation as set out in the covering report. 

 

• Using information from the Call for Sites, produce a local Strategic Housing 

Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) for the City of London. 

 

• Update the City’s Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) to identify 

current housing need including the need for affordable units. 

 

  

Page 28



Culture and Visitors  

31. While the City has long been home to a concentration of well-known arts and 

cultural facilities, in recent years culture and visitor activities have gained greater 

prominence through the Culture Mile initiative and public spaces such as roof 

terraces and viewing galleries being made available to visitors. The number of hotel 

bedrooms has increased, and the night-time economy has expanded. The Mayor of 

London is encouraging boroughs to promote and embrace night-time economy 

activities and made comments about the potential to further boost the City’s night-

time economy in response to last year’s City Plan consultation. 

  

32. A Culture SPD is being prepared which will set out expectations regarding the 

provision of cultural infrastructure within the City and provide further guidance on 

producing a ‘Cultural Plan’, a new policy requirement for major developments 

introduced in the emerging City Plan. The City Corporation’s current Cultural Strategy 

covers the period 2018-2022, while the Visitor Strategy covers the period 2019-2023. 

A more ambitious visitor destination strategy is currently being developed as part of 

the City Corporation’s response to the pandemic. 

 

33. The London Plan advises that 40,000 additional hotel rooms are needed in London 

by 2036. The London Plan’s hotels evidence base dates from 2017 and does not 

take account of significant economic and social changes since that date or the 

potential impacts of Covid. The City of London has seen a substantial increase in 

developer interest in new hotel and visitor provision and has exceeded the number 

of hotel rooms expected by the GLA. In March 2021, the City’s hotel bedroom stock 

had increased to 6,475 bedrooms, with several further major hotel schemes either 

with planning permission, application submitted or the subject of pre-application 

discussion. 

 

34. The Mayor of London is currently developing guidance to assist local authorities in 

developing night-time strategies. A database of night-time entertainment premises 

and activities has been set up for authorities to use as a resource and a guidance 

note to demonstrate good practice. 

 

35. The policy direction for culture and visitor facilities in the draft City Plan was 

informed by the following evidence base: 

Projections of demand and supply for visitor accommodation in London to 

2050 – GLA Economics 2017 

A Tourism Vision for London – London & Partners 2017 

Culture Mile Look and Feel Strategy 2018 – City of London Corporation  

City of London Cultural Strategy 2018-2022 – City of London Corporation  

Page 29



City of London Visitor Strategy 2019-2023 – City of London Corporation 

36. The draft City Plan 2036 policies on culture and leisure comply with London Plan 

guidance and hotel targets for the City in the London Plan are being achieved. 

There is significant data on culture, leisure, hotels, and the night-time economy 

available from GLA work as well as the Corporation’s research and strategy 

development, albeit some of this as mentioned above is pre-pandemic. There is 

increasing interest in hotel and visitor-related developments, which need to be 

considered in the context of other competing demands on land-use in the Square 

Mile. 

  

37. To this end we will need to consider whether to commission consultants, or to 

produce in-house, further evidence on this topic area including a potential hotel 

demand study and a potential night-time economy strategy. Joint working with 

Innovation and Growth and the City Corporation’s Cultural and Visitor Development 

Director will be required.  

: 

  

Page 30



Retailing  

38. The Covid-19 pandemic has resulted in the temporary closure of many retail units in 

the City and several high street names entering administration. It is recognised that 

both the retail and hospitality sectors in the City have been particularly hard hit by 

the pandemic, given that both sectors are reliant on high levels of footfall from office 

workers many of whom have been working from home since March 2020. Changes 

to the Use Classes Order introduced in September 2020 have also allowed greater 

flexibility and the ability to switch uses between retail, office and some community 

and leisure uses without the need for planning permission.  

 

39. The policy direction for the retail policies in the draft City Plan is informed by the 

following evidence base: 

Retail Needs Assessment Study – Colliers (November 2017) 

Retail Needs Assessment Study Update - Colliers (January 2021) 

Local Plan Retail Units Monitoring Report 2011-20 City of London (July 2020)  

Local Plan Retail Units Principal Shopping Centre Monitoring Reports - City of 

London (July 2020) 

40. Policy CS20 (Retailing) sets out the policy context in the current Local Plan and 

Policy S5 (Retailing) details how this will evolve in the future in the emerging City 

Plan. The London Plan identifies Cheapside, Fleet Street, Leadenhall Market, 

Liverpool Street and Moorgate as Central Activities Zone (CAZ) Retail Clusters, 

which are interpreted as Principal Shopping Centres in the adopted and emerging 

Local Plan.  

 

41. The draft City Plan policies remain in conformity with the London Plan and factor in 

the impact of pre-pandemic retail changes including a shift to online. However, they 

do not take account of any longer-term impacts arising from the pandemic, 

particularly the impacts of home working and potential future hybrid working 

patterns which may lead to prolonged or permanent reductions in footfall.  

 

42. During last year’s City Plan consultation representations were received on the 

impact of the pandemic on retail trends and the ever-changing retail landscape. 

Whilst many comments supported the Local Plan’s aspirations to retain and 

promote retail provision, some respondents questioned the growth assumptions 

underlying the retail policies. To this end we will need to consider: 

• Refreshing the existing retail evidence which largely pre-dates the pandemic, 

to consider the longer-term impacts of changes in working patterns and to 

reassess the policy approach informed by this updated evidence and the role 

of other ‘town centre’ uses.  

Page 31

https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/assets/Services-Environment/retail-needs-assessment-study-2021.pdf
https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/assets/Services-Environment/planning-land-use-report-retail-2020-main.pdf
https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/assets/Services-Environment/planning-land-use-report-retail-2020-main.pdf
https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/assets/Services-Environment/planning-land-use-report-retail-2020-main.pdf


 

• Redrafting the retail policies to reflect the changing circumstances of the 

retail market (including the more rapid shift to online retail) and the changes 

made by the Government to the Use Classes Order. 

 

• Whether and how to encourage the development of new business models 

and improve the leisure and entertainment offer for visitors in the City through 

‘pop-ups’, meanwhile uses, experiential retail, cultural activities, and art 

installations. 

 

• Whether further external consultant advice would be helpful in understanding 

retail growth patterns, or whether there is sufficient anecdotal and non-City 

specific evidence that could provide a robust framework for policy 

development.  

 

  

Page 32



Sports and Leisure 

43. The City Corporation delivers sport and physical activity within the Square Mile 

primarily through the Golden Lane Sport & Fitness Centre. In 2012, Fusion Lifestyle 

was appointed to be the managing partner for the delivery of Golden Lane Sport & 

Fitness and the City’s Sports Development Service.  

 

44. When Fusion Lifestyle commenced the contract there was an existing Sports and 

Physical Activity Strategy (titled – Mile’s More Active) which has shaped the delivery 

across the Square Mile and at locations across London which are owned by the City 

Corporation. Although it was not fully formally adopted by the City Corporation, it 

has acted as a guide for the City Corporation and Fusion Lifestyle since 2012. 

 

45. The Sport, Leisure and Culture Consultancy (SLC) was appointed to support The 

City of London Corporation and Fusion Lifestyle in the development of a new Sport 

and Physical Activity Strategy for 2015-2020. The Strategy provided a vision and 

priorities for Sport and Physical Activity over a five-year period and a 

comprehensive action plan.  

 

46. An in-depth strategic review of national, regional and local strategies was 

undertaken to inform the development of the strategy. This highlighted the priority 

given to improving health and increasing physical activity and the challenges 

specific to the City of London including a very high-density workday population, 

limited open space or accessible facility provision, pockets of high deprivation and 

health inequalities and cultural and estate-based access barriers. 

 

47. The draft City Plan 2036 policies on sport and leisure comply with London Plan 

guidance and are informed by the following evidence base:        

The City of London Corporation - Sport and Physical Activity Strategy 2015-

2020 

Mayor of London - Sport for all of us – 2018 

48. The evidence base underpinning the policies on sport and leisure is quite limited 

and a few years old and this was raised as an issue by Sport England in response 

to last year’s City Plan consultation. A draft 2020-25 Sports and Physical Activity 

Strategy was considered by Policy & Resources Committee in February 2020, with 

a recommendation that further evidence gathering and work be undertaken. 

 

49. Further work on the role of sports and leisure within the City of London is being led 

by Town Clerks as part of the development and adoption of a wider sports strategy 

for the City of London, aligned with the City Corporation’s vision for a post-Covid 

City. Evidence gathering is being progressed, including the intention that an 

external consultant will shortly be appointed to undertake a ‘diagnostics check’ on 

Page 33



the current status of the City’s sport and leisure provision and to make 

recommendations on how to maintain and improve this service in future. The 

outcome of this work should be available to feed into a review of the draft City 

Plan’s sport and leisure policies.  

 

Page 34


	Agenda
	3 MINUTES
	4 LOCAL PLAN - NEXT STEPS
	Appendix A - City Plan 2040 timetable gantt
	Appendix A - City Plan 2040 timetable
	Appendix B Local Plans Sub 310122


